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Author’s Note

The title of researcher only begins to describe the role David Holley played in this project. He worked on it daily for over two years, elevating the quality of this book incalculably. His extraordinary reporting and analytical skills are reflected in every page.

I thank him for his talent, dedication, and friendship. Can’t wait to do it again.

—Andrew Kirtzman






Preface

I first met Rudy Giuliani over breakfast at a midtown Manhattan hotel in the summer of 1992. After serving as a newspaper reporter for more than a decade, I took the risk of my journalistic career and crossed the Rubicon into television, accepting a job as an on-air political reporter for NY1, Time Warner’s twenty-four-hour news channel.

My arrival there coincided with the start of Giuliani’s grudge match against the incumbent mayor, David Dinkins, who had beaten him by a slim margin in 1989. At breakfast Giuliani was polite and amiable, spending most of the time laying out his path to victory. The power dynamic was largely in my favor, as he was a losing candidate trying to impress upon me his viability. He was impatient for the rematch to begin.

The station assigned me to cover his campaign—I became its Giuliani reporter. I filed a story about him several nights a week for the next nine years.

Giuliani was enormously accessible at first, cultivating reporters just as he had in his United States attorney days, a strategy that helped make him one of the country’s most celebrated crime fighters. He was candid and outspoken, and his campaign organization was still on the improvisational side, with a few close aides running the show, along with a larger-than-life campaign strategist, David Garth, a gruff bulldog of a man who had famously helped elect John Lindsay and Ed Koch and was intent upon electing his third New York mayor.

Garth was working to soften the lawman’s sometimes snarling persona from the 1989 race, filming campaign commercials of Giuliani on park benches talking nostalgically about his love of the New York Yankees as a kid growing up in Brooklyn.

As the campaign revved up, something changed. My phone started blowing up each night after my stories aired, a foul-mouthed Garth hollering at me for what he called biased coverage. The antagonism coming from the campaign grew so intense that it began withholding the candidate’s daily schedule from the station, forcing our assignment desk to rely upon other news organizations to keep up with Giuliani’s public events. Similar situations were playing out at other news organizations across the city; the campaign decided on a strategic level to keep the city’s journalists on the defensive to blunt their perceived bias against a white Republican candidate running to unseat the city’s first Black mayor.

I was getting hit by all sides. As I was being targeted by the campaign for being adversarial, I was being eyed by some within the station as being too sympathetic to the candidate. In fact I was growing fascinated by him. The city was in decline and Giuliani was increasingly tapping into the public’s anxiety about disorder in the streets and ambivalence about David Dinkins, its often hapless mayor.

Giuliani was severe, brilliant, angry. He had grown as a candidate since his loss four years earlier, immersing himself in issues he had failed to study the first time around, and emerging with innovative proposals. His campaign’s attacks on me were annoying on a personal level but intrigued me as a reporter. Dinkins was running a predictable campaign reflecting the career politician he was, with a union endorsement here, a politician’s endorsement there. Giuliani was inventing something from scratch.

I was fascinated by his perpetually spinning moral compass. The Catholic school graduate framed policies not as good or bad but rather as right or wrong. He had a dark, Machiavellian streak, yet managed to wrap his problematic acts in a cloak of righteousness. The Giuliani campaign motto was “One City, One Standard,” a thinly veiled accusation that Dinkins was taking sides on the racial battlefield. He claimed the high ground in that war—what could be more fair than a single standard?—but was stirring up resentment among his base of blue-collar white voters, who were already suspicious that Dinkins was showing favoritism to Black communities.

Giuliani won the rematch, and for the next eight years I covered him with continuing astonishment. The new mayor shed his nice-guy act the moment he walked through the doors of City Hall. His daily press conferences were studies in combat, him hurling daily fusillades of insults at reporters, accusing them of asking stupid questions, distorting facts, or acting “jerky”—one of his favorite expressions. He was intent on blowing things up to effect change; every initiative became an over-the-top drama.

When I became a host of the station’s nightly political show, Inside City Hall, his aides played games to keep us in check. When they approved of our coverage they’d offer up high-level officials as guests. When they perceived a slight—which was constantly—they denied us access to even the most low-level administration figures. Garth continued to call me nightly after every show, mixing insults with flattery. The manipulations were endless.

The mayor seemed to enjoy his parries with my colleagues and me at his daily press conferences, but otherwise kept most of us at arm’s length. When I published a book about his mayoralty in 2000, he announced that he wouldn’t read it.

The dynamic between us changed on September 11. I experienced that day with him, interviewing him in a sweat as we hurried north on Church Street, away from the destruction. He had narrowly escaped the implosion of the first tower; when the second tower collapsed we ran for our lives.

From that moment on I became part of his 9/11 story. He related his experiences with me in his 9/11 Commission testimony, in his Time “Person of the Year” interview, and in his book, Leadership. For years following that life-altering day he would break into a smile when we ran into each other, and bring up our experience.

For better or worse, I probably did more to inform the world about Giuliani’s performance leading the city through the tragedy than any other person, save Giuliani himself. I wrote a new chapter about our experience for my book about him. I relayed the story of his actions in countless interviews for television, newspapers, radio, and documentaries.

Then I picked up the Giuliani story where it left off. He had flamed out as a presidential candidate, and his business ventures were raking in unimaginable amounts of cash, much of it earned from dubious clients. I wrote stories about it for magazines and newspapers, and spoke critically about his profiteering off of his achievements on 9/11. We returned to our original roles in each other’s lives.

In the fall of 2019, I began writing this biography. Giuliani was working as Donald Trump’s attorney, causing enormous trouble with his friend, and watching his own reputation go down in flames.

My colleague David Holley and I conducted hundreds of interviews with people who had been close to Giuliani at different points in his life, including his friends, aides, business associates, Trump White House officials, and others. We read through memos, documents, and public schedules from his mayoral archives, which were not available to the public at the time I wrote my first book. We recorded his daily radio shows and podcasts, and watched countless televised interviews going back to his prosecutor days.

Despite the implosion of his once godlike reputation—or, rather, because of it—I remained as fascinated by him as I’d ever been. Unlike Trump, whose character and values never changed in his path to power, Giuliani was leading the latest—perhaps the last—of his many lives. He has fascinated me from the moment I met him to this day.

In October 2019 I reached out to him for an interview. He was a central protagonist in the Ukraine scandal at the time, the catalyst for President Trump’s first impeachment, and a growing figure of ridicule over a series of bizarre television interviews. Several days after my first text to him he responded that the timing was off, and that he needed to “work through privileges.”

A week later I wrote him again to give him a heads-up about a forthcoming piece that I had written about him for the Washington Post. “It’s focused on the moral aspect of your leadership, which has always fascinated me,” I stated, positing that it had served him better at some times than at others. His response betrayed a deep frustration.

“My moral compass has always been clear to me,” he wrote. “Sometimes I act in a politically correct way and I am lionized, and sometimes the same me comes to a different conclusion in good faith than the Democratic Regime of Thought and I am demonized.

“And sometimes you really threaten to uncover their underlying corruption and they try to destroy you.”

He was clearly angered by the growing chorus of criticism aimed at him from all sides of the political spectrum. I wrote that I was eager to hear more.

“Maybe, let’s see,” he wrote me. “Always believe rational discussion can reveal the truth. Others disagree with me and say the major media is so anti-Trump they will say or do anything to take him down.

“I believe this will really hurt America irreparably and hope for some balance, but I see no evidence of it yet.”

I followed up with him several times. I sent numerous notes in the ensuing months, as his role in one scandal gave way to another, and public ostracism intensified. I asked to have coffee with him, wished him Merry Christmas, and offered my best wishes when he was hospitalized with Covid. Occasionally he would call me by accident—I’d hear him speaking with people in the background. But he had chosen to halt our conversations.

I haven’t heard from him since.

—Andrew Kirtzman






I don’t care about my legacy. I’ll be dead.

—RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI








Introduction

The circus began moments after the Concorde hit the runway.

Rudy Giuliani and his entourage, so large that it filled the entire aircraft, stepped down a small staircase onto the tarmac at London’s Heathrow Airport on the evening of February 12, 2002. The most celebrated leader to emerge from the September 11 attacks arrived for four days of almost incomprehensible hero worship, including his knighting by Queen Elizabeth.

The chairman of British Airways, Rod Eddington, greeted him like a head of state. Camera flashes lit up the scene as he presented the former mayor with a cap and bomber jacket inscribed with Giuliani’s name.

“For me it is particularly significant to have this recognition from our good friends, the government of Great Britain,” Giuliani told reporters.

The next day, he rode past crowds hanging over barricades, and through the majestic wrought-iron gates of Buckingham Palace. It was just four days since Princess Margaret had passed away, leaving her grief-stricken sister to carry out her duties in her famously stoic manner. Guests were instructed by the palace to wear black out of respect. Giuliani stepped out of his car dressed in a black morning suit with a silver striped tie, white handkerchief, and an American flag lapel pin.

His companion, Judith Nathan, was at his side, sporting a hat with a playful black bow to accent her somber attire. The accessory had triggered an angry blowup at the hotel hours earlier, as turmoil was plaguing the trip behind the scenes. But Nathan and Giuliani had their game faces on, and were clearly pleased to be at the center of the extraordinary pageantry.

Organ music filled the palace’s Grand Ballroom as guests were presented to the queen. There were over one hundred people receiving honors, among them his former fire commissioner Tom Von Essen, and police commissioner Bernie Kerik. But only Giuliani would receive an honorary knighthood. An attendant announced the former mayor’s arrival in a booming stentorian voice that would have impressed Oliver Cromwell.

“For services after the September 11 tragedy, the most excellent order of the British Empire, to be an honorary knight commander, civil division, the honorable Rudy Giuliani, lately Mayor of New York.”

Because he was not a British citizen, Giuliani was not bestowed the knighthood on bended knee on the velvet investiture stool, nor did the queen tap a sword on his shoulder in benediction. But to listen to him afterward, she seemed as taken with him as he was with her. They spent an unusual amount of time chatting (“maybe two minutes,” an NPR reporter said), and she smiled as they spoke.

“She congratulated me on my leadership during a very horrible time,” Giuliani recalled, “and said it must have been horrid and awful. She said she had watched a lot of what happened and what I had done, and wanted to express her admiration.

“I said I was receiving it on behalf of not myself but all the police officers, firefighters, rescue workers and the heroic people of New York… Then she said when we concluded, ‘I hope you’re having less stress now,’ and I told her I was.”

The dreamlike quality of the visit continued after the knighting. Giuliani was feted at a banquet by the Lord Mayor of London and driven to 10 Downing Street for a joint press conference with Prime Minister Tony Blair, who lavished praise on him. That night, he was the star of the show at a rollicking benefit for 9/11 families held at Babylon, Sir Richard Branson’s restaurant at the Kensington Roof Gardens in London. Giuliani had the crowd roaring with a shtick featuring an exaggerated Brooklyn accent.

Paul McCartney posed for a picture with his arm around Judith, who clutched Giuliani tightly on her other side, with Branson squeezed in. All had their palms out doing a “That’s show business” pose. Andrew Lloyd Webber, Simon Cowell, and what seemed like a convention of British entertainment icons mingled around them.

All the adulation was magnified a thousandfold by international television coverage, which Giuliani’s team encouraged by feeding live interviews with the former mayor like coal to a fire.

Everyone was game for the hero narrative. “What’s important in all of this, of course,” reported CNN’s Walter Rodgers, “is that the Londoners are seeking information and counsel from Giuliani on how to bring down the city’s horrific crime rate. Giuliani’s obviously the man to do it.”

The extraordinary thing about this heady experience was how unextraordinary it was for Giuliani. The knighthood was just another stop on the circuit for a man well on his way toward becoming one of the world’s most celebrated figures.

Six weeks earlier, Time named him its “Person of the Year,” portraying him on its cover with the headline “Tower of Strength.” Three months earlier, he addressed the United Nations General Assembly, an honor usually reserved for heads of state. A week before that, Oprah Winfrey introduced him as “America’s Mayor” to twenty thousand cheering fans at a Yankee Stadium 9/11 memorial service. Interspersed between the events were pilgrimages from world leaders, such as France’s Jacques Chirac, who dubbed Giuliani “Rudy the Rock.”

It was not until two years later that the national 9/11 Commission sorted out Giuliani’s role in the disaster, and catalogued a list of catastrophic mistakes by his administration that left hundreds of police and firefighters vulnerable on that awful morning. There was an argument to be made that Giuliani had cost lives on September 11 rather than saved them.

But try telling that to a public that was desperate for someone to take charge on the day that Islamic terrorists hijacked American planes and flew them into skyscrapers and the Pentagon; when office workers trapped in the towers jumped to their deaths to escape the infernos; when two of the tallest buildings on earth imploded. On a day of terrifying anarchy, when civilization itself seemed to be threatened, Rudy Giuliani seemed to be the only person in charge. He was methodical, calm, and compassionate. He radiated competence. That made an indelible impression upon millions of frightened people, from Brooklyn bartenders to the Queen of England.

And he was determined to capitalize on it.

Giuliani had other things on his mind on this winter day beyond the royal costume ceremony. Two months earlier, he had registered a new company with New York’s secretary of state named Giuliani Partners that formed the launchpad for his post-9/11 career, a venture that would gross over $100 million in the coming years. One of Hollywood’s most powerful agents had negotiated a book deal that would fetch him another $3 million. Washington Speakers Bureau was booking engagements at up to $200,000 per speech.

Such was Giuliani’s epic career that he was already a historic figure before 9/11. Fifteen years earlier, as United States attorney for the Southern District of Manhattan, he won unprecedented convictions of Mafia leaders and Wall Street traders that elevated him into the pantheon of the most celebrated prosecutors of the twentieth century. Less than a decade later, he was declared “the city’s most important politician of his generation” on the front page of the New York Times for spearheading New York’s turnaround. He had been so famous so many times that his knighting by the Queen of England was little more than a sugar high.



Two decades later, seventy-six-year-old Rudy Giuliani could still draw a crowd. A battalion of camera crews and dozens of national political reporters encircled him in a parking lot in a dingy industrial section of northeast Philadelphia. It was November 7, 2020, four days after Election Day, and his client, the president of the United States, had lost his reelection bid. Instead of conceding, Donald Trump was gearing up to overturn the results, egged on by Giuliani more than anyone.

If this event had taken place in the 1980s, Giuliani’s entrance into the battle over the presidency would have been an almost cinematic moment, with the most admired and feared prosecutor in America joining the side of an embattled president.

But the Rudy Giuliani stepping up to face the media on this dreary morning was a changed man. Far from the monkish ascetic from the U.S. attorney days, years of overindulgence had left him hunched and overweight, a square box of a man with a self-satisfied grin.

He was despised by millions who once celebrated him. He was Trump’s enabler, a reckless force behind a scandal that led to one impeachment, and he was well on his way to sparking a second. He was error-prone, forgetful, sloppy, a drinker. His judgment failed him badly. In recent months he was duped by a Soviet agent, made a laughingstock in a major motion picture, and burned by his alignment with crooks and thieves who were now facing prison time. His gaffes on behalf of the president, his eruptions of anger on live television, made him fodder for late-night comedians. His enthusiastic journey into the shadowy recesses of corrupt foreign governments triggered a criminal investigation by the same U.S. Attorney’s Office he once led.

Most of his loyal aides had fallen away by now, many of them embarrassed to be associated with their longtime mentor. His lone sidekick was Bernie Kerik, his former police commissioner, who’d served three years in jail for tax fraud and perjury. “I got about five friends left,” Giuliani confided to an aide.

It was about to get worse.

Trump alerted the world with a tweet earlier in the day that Giuliani would be holding the press conference at the Four Seasons in Philadelphia. The president soon clarified himself: the location was actually Four Seasons Total Landscaping, a family business on a forlorn street in a near-deserted industrial district. When reporters arrived they were directed to its parking lot, down the street from a porno shop and a crematorium.

This was to be Giuliani’s opening salvo as the new general in the war over the election. It turned into more of an exploding cigar.

He made one spurious accusation after another to argue the case that Trump was being robbed of the presidency. He accused Pennsylvania Democrats of stealing Trump’s victory in the state. He disparaged the mail-in ballots that had won the election for Joe Biden.

“Those mail-in ballots could have been written the day before by the Democratic Party hacks that were all over the convention center,” he said. “What I’m saying to you is, not a single one was inspected as the law required.…

“The same thing was done in Georgia, the same thing was done in Michigan, the same thing was done in North Carolina,” he said. “It seems to me somebody from the Democratic National Committee sent out a little note that said ‘Don’t let the Republicans look at the mail-in ballots. At least not in the big Democratic hack cities that we control.…’

“Joe Frazier is still voting here,” he alleged. “Will Smith’s father has voted here twice since he died.”

He asked a Republican poll watcher, Daryl Brooks, to step up to the mic and tell the press what he’d witnessed on election night.

“We don’t know if people were voting twice or three times,” Brooks said. “They did not allow us to see anything.”

White House lawyers were appalled at the conspiracy mongering. Virtually everything Giuliani charged was false. Some law firms the White House signed up for the ballot challenge withdrew from the effort after viewing the press conference. Daryl Brooks turned out to be a convicted sex offender. “Giuliani wrecks Trump campaign’s well-laid legal plans,” Politico reported.

As always, the president’s lawyer was resolute in his beliefs.

“This will be a very, very strong case,” he told reporters. “And I know you won’t accept it because of your hateful biases. But let’s see if you can try thinking rationally.”

That night, Kate McKinnon appeared on SNL’s “Weekend Update” segment dressed as Giuliani. She gave him wide, crazy eyes, a sinister voice, and spindly fingers splayed demonically across his chest.


GIULIANI: Did you see my press conference today? It was at the Four Seasons. Fancy!

ANCHOR: Sounds fancy, but it was at a landscaping company called Four Seasons. Was that a mistake?

GIULIANI: What? No.



The anchor, Colin Jost, asked Giuliani what his plans were for the future.

“I will be fine,” he said. “I always land on my feet, upside down from the ceiling.”

At that, someone threw a head of lettuce in his face.



What happened to Rudy Giuliani? So many people asked that question when America’s Mayor reappeared in 2016 as a leading player in the Trump psychodrama, a tragic figure who’d lost his way.

Some argued that he had changed since the 9/11 days, while others insisted that he was always this way. It usually depended upon whether you admired him or hated him; not a lot of people fell in the middle.

As anyone who had been close to him can tell you, he was not always the sad, pernicious figure who stood in the parking lot of Four Seasons Total Landscaping. Yet his personality didn’t change with the flip of a switch either.

His descent was the result of a series of moral compromises made over the years as the temptations of power and money grew. There were any number of opportunities to do the right thing when he did the opposite. By the time he reached an advanced age all those compromises left him an empty vessel, filled with a desire for power and little more. Alcohol, and a toxic marriage, were exacerbating factors, though not the cause.

This is not just a story of Giuliani’s rise and fall, but of his many rises and falls. Few figures in American life have climbed so high and fallen so low so many times. The Giuliani story is an opera of triumphs and disasters, downfalls and comebacks. The lives of millions were affected along the way.

Ultimately the measure of a leader is not what he does or even why he does it, but rather how he affects the lives of the people he leads. That answer tracks Giuliani’s trajectory. He had titanic accomplishments, far more numerous and consequential than those of most elected officials. He brought a new level of accountability to Wall Street; reversed the fortunes of a declining city; led a nation out of the depths of despair. But his willingness to do the wrong thing for his own benefit caused misery for those who stood in his way, from stockbrokers to Haitian refugees to young Black men on the streets of New York. This giant of American government capitalized on the country’s divisions for his own benefit, and nearly brought down a president—twice—all the while wrapping himself in a flag of rectitude.

By the twilight of his career, a man once venerated for his integrity and incorruptibility had evolved into one of the most cynical figures in American life, a latter-day version of himself that would have appalled the young Rudy Giuliani.

In the end he was a captive of his insatiable self-interest. This is the story of the heroism and the havoc that it caused.






CHAPTER 1 Morality


A blizzard of red, white, and blue confetti filled the sky above Manhattan’s Lower Broadway on the morning of October 19, 1960, all but obscuring the sight of presidential candidate John F. Kennedy and his wife, Jackie, riding atop a slowly moving Chevy convertible inching its way past a million cheering supporters. It was the largest ticker-tape parade down Manhattan’s Canyon of Heroes since General Douglas MacArthur was celebrated for his triumphs in the Pacific.

The crowd size was ballooning so quickly that police were growing nervous that things could spin out of control. Jackie worried that the sides of the car were starting to bend from the mobs pressing against it. At Wall Street, Jack rose from his seat to address the throng over a loudspeaker (“In 1960 the people say yes to progress!”), but the roar of the crowd, and the wailing of police sirens trying to contain it, drowned out the sound of his voice. The people of the city were giving the Democrat a tumultuous lift into the final stretch of his campaign for president against Vice President Richard Nixon.

Earlier in the morning, three miles away in a far more sedate Brooklyn neighborhood, a pudgy Catholic school senior named Rudy Giuliani decided to commit the almost unheard-of sin of cutting school to get a glimpse of his political hero. Bishop Loughlin Memorial High School was a serious place, where it was close to unthinkable to run afoul of the Christian Brothers who ran it. But Kennedy fever had been sweeping the city’s Catholic schools, and Giuliani was set on meeting him.

John Maceli, a classmate in Giuliani’s homeroom, wasn’t a particularly close friend of his—they had barely socialized—but he was game for the adventure. The two boarded the GG train, a traveling sardine can that transported hordes of men and women around Brooklyn and Queens each morning. Maceli was in it more for the kick of cutting school than for the politics, but Giuliani was jubilant at the prospect of seeing Kennedy in person.

The crush of parade-goers at the subway exit was even more oppressive than the squeeze inside their subway car. The teenagers squirmed their way forward until they reached a wooden police barricade along the route. When the senator’s car appeared in the distance, the crowd exploded in cheers. Giuliani joined in the delirium, chanting “Jack! Jack! Jack!”

As Kennedy’s car neared, Giuliani decided he wanted to meet him. It was a crazy idea—he’d have to leap over the barricade to get to him—and Maceli warned him against it. But Giuliani wasn’t asking his permission. Leaving Maceli behind, he climbed over the barrier, jumped into the parade route, and sprinted toward Kennedy’s car. Before anyone could stop him, he caught up to the convertible. JFK smiled at a beaming Rudy Giuliani and shook his hand.



Neither his idolizing of Kennedy nor the audacity it took to greet him were surprising to Giuliani’s friends. Even in high school he was so focused on politics that they voted him Class Politician. A few years later he told a girlfriend he would be the first Italian Catholic president.

As an adult, he romanticized his upbringing as something close to perfect. He was born on May 28, 1944, in an era so distant that it seemed lifted from a black-and-white newsreel. FDR was president and D-Day was a week away. Going My Way, starring Bing Crosby as a young priest battling the old order, was the number one movie in America. Elvis Presley was just nine years old.

He spent his early childhood in East Flatbush, in an immigrant neighborhood once known as Pigtown, where modest cookie-cutter houses teemed with first- and second-generation Americans striving to climb past the bottom rung of the economic ladder. His parents, Harold and Helen, second-generation Italian Americans, lived in Helen’s mother’s two-family house on Hawthorne Avenue, a red-and-tan brick building a block away from Kings County Hospital, where the poor of Brooklyn gave birth to their children and grieved for their loved ones.

Not everyone went to church, but many banked their hopes for their children upon a good Catholic education. From the moment Giuliani entered kindergarten until the day he enrolled in law school, the majority of his teachers were nuns, priests, and Christian Brothers. Each class began with a prayer (“Let us remember that we are in the holy presence of God”).

Bishop Loughlin didn’t appear special from the outside. It was a foreboding brown and brick building in a dicey part of Fort Greene; students were warned to remain within a two-block perimeter in order to avoid crossing paths with neighborhood youth gangs. “It always looked like a prison to me,” said Maceli. But it was a jewel in the crown of the Brooklyn Diocese, a scholarship institution for the system’s high-achieving male students, almost all of them lower-middle-class kids from first- or second-generation Italian and Irish families.

The boys at Loughlin wore jackets and ties, studied hard, and didn’t talk back to the Christian Brothers, men in long black robes who took vows of poverty and chastity to devote themselves to their educational mission. “The brothers were real authority figures,” said Joseph Centrella, a high school classmate. “If they said do it, we did it.”

It’s not hard to understand why Giuliani thrived at Loughlin. He was a serious student who enthusiastically embraced the dogmatism that sat at the Catholic institution’s core. “If you didn’t have his same beliefs, there was something wrong with you,” said Edwin Betz, a classmate.

Pale and broad-shouldered, with deep, dark eyes and a jet black pompadour, Giuliani spoke with the gravity of an older man, his words filtered through a soft lisp. His yearbook photo depicts a grave-looking young man with an accusatory expression, an apostolic figure in a dark suit and bow tie. While his friends were dancing to Chubby Checker and the Shirelles, he preferred Puccini to pop stars, and founded the school’s opera club. While they were sneaking cigarettes on side streets, he was sitting in half-empty classrooms studying the doctrines of the Catholic faith in the school’s catechist club.

The hierarchical structure of the Church, its focus on respect for authority, and its emphasis on morality made an indelible impression upon him, and continued to influence his thinking as he grew older. He took enormous pride that his family members included a firefighter and four cops, the personification of authority.

“I’m going to tell you how I conduct myself,” he told a radio audience a half century later. “I try to do what is right. I try to live up to what my father and mother told me: If it’s right, you go straight ahead, you square it with God and you square it with the mirror every morning when you’re shaving. And I do.”

The paradox was that he viewed all of his actions through the lens of morality, even when they were morally questionable. His belief in conformity, and the responsibility of leaders to enforce a moral order, would have huge consequences later in life, as he vaulted from one position of enormous power to another, determined to stamp his view of right and wrong on every situation. The language of morality would govern his words, his politics, his personal life. His belief in the infallibility of his views rendered him impervious to criticism and self-doubt, which would prove to be his greatest asset and his eventual undoing.



It took Giuliani a good amount of moral jujitsu just to get through childhood. He was educated by teachers preaching godliness, while his family members were a motley crew that included police officers, loan sharks, and thugs.

“Three cousins killed within five years,” wrote the investigative reporter Wayne Barrett, who uncovered the criminal past of Giuliani’s family in 2000. “A mob uncle and cousin. A cop uncle protecting the mob uncle.”

The most problematic of all for him was his father.

On April 2, 1934, a milkman named Harold Hall entered an apartment building on East 96th Street in East Harlem, a stop on his rounds to collect payments from tenants. It was the same neighborhood in which Harold Giuliani earned his livelihood as a burglar.

Harold Giuliani’s dreams of becoming a professional boxer had long since died, done in by vision problems that had him squinting and blinking through thick eyeglasses. He’d been forced to wear them since the age of six, and was ridiculed mercilessly by his classmates, ripping at his self-esteem and saddling him with a permanent chip on his shoulder. The collapse of his boxing prospects left him with no career to speak of, and no outlet for his anger beyond the satisfactions of criminal activity.

The elder Giuliani and an accomplice were apparently aware of the milkman’s schedule. They crouched in wait for Hall behind a dimly lit stairwell on the first floor, awaiting his arrival. He entered the building shortly after noon.

“As I started up the stairway I saw the gun stare me in the face,” the milkman later testified. “The man with the gun said to me, ‘Get behind the stairs.’ ” Giuliani’s accomplice rifled through Hall’s pockets and pulled out $128. “Pull down your pants,” the accomplice ordered, and when Hall refused Harold yanked his pants down to his ankles, tied his hands and moved on to his feet. They were interrupted when police rushed into the building. Harold was arrested; his friend got away.

A psychiatrist for the city’s Department of Hospitals who was appointed by the court to evaluate Harold found him to be a sad and troubled man—a highly aggressive “personality deviate” immune to other people’s feelings. His report characterized Giuliani’s aggression as “pathological in nature.”

“He is egocentric to an extent where he has failed to consider the feelings and rights of others,” the psychiatrist’s report stated. “He has developed a sense of inferiority which, in recent years, has become accentuated on account of his prolonged idleness and dependence on his parents.”

Harold spent a year and four months behind bars at Sing Sing Correctional Facility in upstate New York. Upon his release he cycled through jobs, spending time as a salesman, and later as a plumber’s assistant at the Brooklyn Navy Yard when Rudy, his only child, was born. Hoping to earn more money with a family to support, Harold went to work at Vincent’s Restaurant, owned by Rudy’s uncle Leo D’Avanzo, serving as muscle for Leo’s vast loansharking and gambling operation.

Harold brandished a baseball bat, cracking heads and breaking kneecaps when Leo’s debtors ran late on their payments. “People in the neighborhood were terrified of him,” a customer at Vincent’s told Barrett.

The potential for damage that a violent, pathologically self-centered father can inflict upon a child is incalculable. Rudy Giuliani has steadfastly portrayed his father as a gentle, loving man who taught him his most valuable lessons, from treating people with respect to the importance of paying taxes. “He would say over and over, ‘You can’t take anything that’s not yours. You can’t steal. Never lie, never steal,’ ” he recalled in 2001.

The depiction of a benevolent father was a far cry from the damaged, menacing figure that Harold’s psychiatrist diagnosed.

“I had a very healthy relationship with him,” Giuliani reflected in a 1987 interview. “In measuring myself against him, I always felt a little inadequate because I couldn’t give as freely and easily to people as he did. I felt more resentment about it.”

But he also betrayed a glimpse of what life was like growing up with a man of mercurial moods. “He’d give away his last penny to somebody in need,” he said. “But he was also crazy, had a crazy personality. He had very strong opinions. If you didn’t know him, you could’ve thought he was very dictatorial.

“He had a terrific sense of humor, but not being perfect, he also had a very bad temper,” he said. “He could get angry in a second, then three or four minutes later he’d feel terrible about it.”

In contrast to Harold, who led an often directionless existence, alternating between thuggery and menial jobs, Rudy’s mother Helen was controlled and focused, with firm ideas about how to raise her son.

She had her job cut out for her handling not only a child but a husband with a history of violence, as well as a hodgepodge of hoodlums in the family and at Harold’s bar whom she couldn’t get Rudy far enough away from.

She was a fiercely intelligent woman and a voracious reader who graduated high school at sixteen after skipping two grades, dreaming of becoming a teacher. Her father died shortly after, so she instead went to work as a secretary to support her six siblings.

She was a tough, protective woman, and, by all accounts, a strict but loving parent. Growing up, Rudy was deeply attached to her, but worried about disappointing her. “My mom pressured me to succeed,” he reflected years later. “But the pressure was heavy.”

Her expectations were for academic excellence, whereas Rudy was an average student at a young age. When he did come home with A’s, he could find her withholding, demanding A-pluses from him. It wasn’t surprising that he would grow up to be a driven man.

“She was pretty domineering, pretty strong, and intelligent,” said a Giuliani friend. “He wanted to please her very badly.”

He was the center of her universe, for all the positives and negatives that can entail. “She was the one who gave him the support that he needed,” said Joan D’Avanzo, who married one of Helen’s many nephews. “She was the driving force behind Rudy.”

For all his troubles, Harold cared enough about his son to extricate Helen and him from his world of loan sharks and broken bones when Rudy was seven years old. Helen’s mother sold their East Flatbush home and the family hightailed it out of Brooklyn in 1951, trading bus fumes for the smell of fresh-cut grass in Garden City South, Long Island.

The suburb was a hub of middle-class white flight, an affordable refuge where parents needn’t be concerned that their children would encounter people of different races on their way to school. The Giuliani family’s street, Euston Road, was lined with maple trees and small, two-bedroom Cape Cods, modest homes for families climbing their way out of the lower-middle class.

Giuliani eventually won a prestigious scholarship to Bishop Loughlin back in Brooklyn. Each year the Brooklyn Diocese admitted just two students from each parish in Brooklyn, Queens, and Long Island to the school, tuition free. Giuliani was one of them, and spent hours each day commuting by train from the lush green fields of Long Island to the garbage-strewn streets of north Brooklyn.

Whatever was taking place inside the Giuliani home motivated Rudy to prove himself to the world with a vengeance. After school let out each day, kids on Euston Road would play stickball in the glow of the setting sun. They were always searching for older kids to play with, but Rudy, looking stiff in the white dress shirt that was part of the Loughlin uniform, waved them off, preferring to sit on his stoop and read. “He pretty much kind of kept to himself,” said John Connor, a neighbor.

While he didn’t run for class president at Loughlin, he served as campaign manager for someone who did. George Schneider was one of three candidates in the race. The two others, Anthony Shanley and Joseph Centrella, were doing the usual—hanging up posters and banners, buttonholing students in the corridors, promising to push for better food in the lunchroom. Giuliani took it to another level, driving a campaign vehicle through the streets around the school, blaring Schneider’s message to students as they emerged bleary-eyed from their subways in the morning.

When the day arrived for the three candidates to speak to the student body, Shanley rose before the audience in the school auditorium and made his case, asserting among other things that his opponents were too busy with other activities to hold office.

Giuliani sprang from his seat in the audience. Speaking in an accusatory tone that he would perfect as an adult, he all but called Shanley a hypocrite, ticking off a list of extracurricular activities that Shanley was involved in. “If you’re saying these guys have too many activities, what about yourself?” asked the future prosecutor.

No one had anticipated such a harsh challenge. No one even had a campaign manager until Rudy Giuliani took over George Schneider’s effort. Shanley offered a brief rebuttal to Giuliani’s accusation and sat down.

Giuliani’s tactic may have worked in a limited sense; Shanley lost. But Schneider did, too. Centrella, the third candidate, squeaked by them both.

Not everyone was impressed with Giuliani’s aggressive style, but all that certitude made for an enormously self-confident teenager. In his senior year, he accompanied his class on a trip to Washington, D.C. Late one night at their hotel, they plunged into an epic water fight, racing back and forth to their bathrooms to fill up pitchers and douse one another in the hallways. They started pouring water under bedroom doors.

Word reached the hotel manager. He stormed up to the floor and encountered a disaster scene. Halting the bedlam, he ordered the students to pack their bags and vacate the hotel within ten minutes.

Things got quiet fast. Soaked in water and stopped in their tracks, the students grew panicked that they’d face expulsion from Loughlin. No one could think of a way out of the crisis until Giuliani spoke up.

“He’s bluffing,” he said. “I’m going to sleep.”

His classmates, terrified, followed his lead, went into their rooms, and slept the night. The manager never returned.

It made a big impression on his friends. “He doesn’t let fear run his emotions as readily as others would,” his friend Peter Powers said. “He has this uncanny knack to know when he’s right and to believe in it.”

As Giuliani thrived at school, his father was attempting to earn an honest living in the suburbs by turning in his baseball bat for a shovel, taking a $3,500 a year job in 1959 as a laborer at a school district in nearby Lynbrook. He moved the family to a new home, in North Bellmore, and kept the job for almost three years. It ended badly.

In the spring of 1961 he was arrested for allegedly loitering for “immoral purposes” in a public park, according to Jack O’Leary, Rudy’s homeroom teacher at Bishop Loughlin and a family friend.

Harold claimed he was doing deep knee bends in the restroom to help with a constipation problem. The police apparently let him off without filing charges. But the trauma of the arrest, evoking a criminal past he had tried to forget, took its toll. According to O’Leary, Harold suffered a nervous breakdown.

Unemployed, he drifted back to Leo’s bar in Brooklyn, picking up his bat again to support his family.



“Our glorious political history abounds with payoffs, bribes and bought state legislatures,” railed a columnist for the Quadrangle, the student newspaper of Manhattan College, in 1964.

“Ars Politica”—the art of politics—was a platform for Rudy Giuliani to condemn the fools, hypocrites, and scoundrels who did not share his politics. “Barry Goldwater was an incompetend [sic], confused and sometimes idiotic man,” he wrote. New York’s mayor Robert Wagner was “selfish, self-centered, power hungry.”

The author was young and liberal, but he wrote like an old scold.

“The Republicans will either nominate a ‘winner’ candidate or a loser,” he wrote about the 1964 New York Senate race. “This means they will either pick a candidate they feel has the best chance of winning, or concede the election and put up a patsy who will walk, talk, eat and drink for four months, just to pass the time of day.” (Kenneth Keating, the Republican incumbent, went on to lose to Robert F. Kennedy, a Giuliani hero.)

The columnist was happy to sit in judgment of others. There were no shades of gray to him, just black and white, right and wrong. The Kennedys were virtuous; Goldwater was a hack.

It was not surprising to his friends and family members that Giuliani considered becoming a priest after he graduated from Loughlin. He agonized over the prospect with teachers and friends, and visited seminaries to get a sense of what life in the Church would be like. Ultimately, he told the Christian Science Monitor, he decided against it due to his “budding interest in the opposite sex.”

Instead, he enrolled at an all-male Catholic college.

In a city of sprawling universities with great national footprints, Manhattan College was a modest commuter school, tucked away on a hill overlooking Van Cortlandt Park on the northern edge of the metropolis. Despite its name, it was in the Bronx, and it shared little of its namesake borough’s modernity, values, or ambivalence toward religion.

It was a rigorous, conservative institution, with a redbrick chapel whose cupola and crucifix towered above its small, bucolic campus. The neatly groomed young men who attended the college, all dressed in jackets and ties, were taught by Christian Brothers, as at Bishop Loughlin. Giuliani studied in a program that revolved around the Great Books movement, in which the traditional Western canon was used as the basis for teaching history, philosophy, and science. While students at NYU were reading Kurt Vonnegut and James Baldwin, Giuliani and his classmates were studying Plutarch and Thoreau.

There was a seriousness of purpose to the place; it was pure vanilla, but deeply intellectual. “We spent all our time reading,” said Bernard McElhone, a classmate. “It produced people who thought they had a grip on how Western civilization developed and maintained itself.”

Giuliani enrolled in the fall of 1961 as part of a troika. Peter Powers, Alan Placa, and he attended Bishop Loughlin together, and grew as close as brothers. Giuliani was the pugnacious leader of the pack, while Placa and Powers, soft-spoken and cerebral, were content to play supporting roles in his unending dramas. Powers, a born gentleman, tempered Giuliani’s extreme impulses when he ran too hot, a role he would reprise again and again in the years to come. Placa, who would become a priest, was there for Giuliani, and vice versa, when trouble visited them both.

The decade’s political and cultural upheavals were coming to a head. JFK had been sworn in as president eight months earlier, promising a new generation of leadership. The KKK was hurling firebombs at Freedom Riders in Alabama. Pope John XXIII declared it was time to “open the windows [of the Church] and let in some fresh air” in advance of Vatican II.

Manhattan College closed its ears to the sounds of change, but even within its conservative confines Giuliani was considered so rigid that people took notice. Some students were starting to chafe at the college’s strict dress code, but he wasn’t among them. “The whole world was taking off its tie,” said McElhone. “Then there was Giuliani, showing up in a suit. He was sort of odd, and standing out in a strange, anachronistic way.” The leading fraternity on campus rejected him. “He was too opinionated, too much of a straight arrow,” a frat member told the New York Daily News.

He worked feverishly for Robert F. Kennedy’s campaign for U.S. Senate, traveling to train stations near his Long Island home at 5:30 a.m. Powers was a conservative Republican, and the two of them went at it for hours over dinner at the Giuliani home in Long Island. One night, Powers and his date emerged from a Long Island movie theater to discover that Giuliani and Placa had plastered his car with Kennedy stickers.

Giuliani told anybody who’d listen about his political aspirations. “He told me he wanted to become the first Italian-Catholic President of the United States,” Kathy Livermore, his girlfriend at the time, told the Daily News. “He liked to say, ‘Rudolph William Louis Giuliani III, the first Italian-Catholic President of the United States.’ ”

While other classmates partied at off-campus bars, Giuliani begged off. “Down at the bottom of the hill at Manhattan was the Pinewood,” recalled Gene Hart, a classmate. “That was a shuffleboard hangout. A few dollars would pass hands when we had two-hour breaks between classes.

“You had to pass the library to get there,” he said. “Some people would stop in the library, like Rudy. Some people would keep walking.”

And so it went for the four years Rudy Giuliani spent in college, a Kennedy fan leading an Eisenhower lifestyle. On the day JFK was assassinated in November 1963, he was on campus, dressed in an ROTC uniform.

Believers in conformity were not hard to find at Manhattan College, but it struck far more of his contemporaries as odd when Giuliani and Peter Powers entered NYU Law School in 1965. They arrived in Greenwich Village like visitors from another era, two young men in suits and ties venturing outside of the Catholic education bubble for the first time in their lives. They had watched the beat generation come and go from the sidelines, and were just as happy to skip the burgeoning counterculture movement blossoming in the streets outside their classroom buildings.

“The first time I attended a class in which a prayer wasn’t said at the beginning of class was my first day at NYU Law School,” Giuliani recalled. “I was so confused I began by making the sign of the cross and then I looked around and realized people were staring at me.”

He and his sidekick were hopelessly square—it never occurred to them to experiment with marijuana—but not immune to the boozy allure of the bars and clubs that lined Bleecker Street. “It was the greatest fucking place in the world,” Powers recalled.

When the two entered as freshmen, security guards were still requiring male students to lift up their sweaters to prove they were wearing ties. But they had stumbled into a cultural revolution. In the span of a year the institution underwent a striking transformation. Gone were the shirts and ties, replaced by jeans and sandals. The place was pulsating with political activism.

A burgeoning number of law students, inspired by the civil rights movement, were taking up public interest law, traveling down South to represent Black citizens suffering under segregationist housing, employment, and election laws, and representing civil rights demonstrators tossed into jail cells after bloody confrontations with local sheriffs. Others were taking community-organizing jobs in underserved neighborhoods, funded by President Johnson’s War on Poverty.

Law school student civil rights groups were popping up on campuses around the country, agitating for voting rights, women’s rights, and gay rights; many held their annual conventions at NYU Law School.

“It was the most politically organized, sophisticated, activist class you’ve ever seen,” said Sylvia Law, a member of Giuliani and Powers’s class. “We had been at the Mississippi Freedom Summit. We had been arrested.… There was nothing like this class.”

Inside the NYU dorms the music was getting louder, hair was growing longer, and drug use was skyrocketing.

“There was a change in the atmosphere from ’65 to ’68,” said Norman Siegel, an NYU Law student who years later tangled with Giuliani as a civil rights attorney. “You had to be aware of that, and make a conscious choice of whether you were open to that kind of change in your thinking and outlook toward other people.”

It was a lot to swallow for two straitlaced Bishop Loughlin boys raised to respect authority. Powers had to step around protesting students blocking his way to class. “I remember sometimes not being able to get down the hall because they’d want to lie down for a half hour or something and protest, which I thought violated my rights,” he recalled.

Giuliani, a liberal Democrat, had more sympathy for the cause than his friend, but showed little interest in joining in. “Rudy was never into changing the law,” said David Finkelstein, a classmate. “He was into upholding the law.”

While his classmates were getting their noses broken by riot police at antiwar protests, his political activism consisted of doing grunt work for Long Island political clubs as a Democratic state committeeman.

The students in his social circle weren’t public interest types; they were young men who were on track for jobs at white-shoe law firms, which paid first-year associates $15,000 a year to push paperwork for partners. “What he was known for was that he smoked big stogie cigars, and he played bridge,” Law recalled. “He was like a good ol’ boy.… By good old boy, I didn’t mean to say he was overtly racist or sexist or anything like that. He was just not that interesting.”

Giuliani conceded years later that he’d sat out the 1960s. “Just exactly how I missed it, I can’t describe,” he said. But if he was out of step with its culture, he was discovering his life’s mission. A man taught to revere authority was increasingly drawn to the law, a profession whose very purpose was to respect the rules.

“I went in with the mental attitude that if I enjoy it, I’m going to stay,” he told a reporter. “If I don’t, I’m going to leave, get a master’s degree in history or something.”

Years later, he made discovering the law sound like he’d entered the priesthood.

“I began to view my love of debate as pointing toward a new calling—to the law, where I could indulge that enthusiasm to the full,” he said.

He made the Law Review at the end of his freshman year, an appointment that came with on-campus housing. He packed up his things and moved out of his parents’ house in Long Island, and immersed himself in his legal studies.

He graduated NYU Law School magna cum laude in 1968, the same year Martin Luther King Jr. and Bobby Kennedy were assassinated. Race riots were ravaging cities across the nation. The outcry against the Vietnam War was dividing parents from their children. Crime and disorder were running rampant in the streets of New York.

Armed with a law degree and a towering self-confidence, Giuliani set upon his mission to impose order on a world spinning out of control.






CHAPTER 2 Justice


The United States Courthouse in Foley Square is an imposing building in Lower Manhattan, with a six-hundred-foot tower that looms ominously over the judges, attorneys, and supporting players in the justice system who pass through its Corinthian pillars each day. It’s where Julius and Ethel Rosenberg were sentenced to die, and where the government failed to stifle the publication of the Pentagon Papers.

It’s also where generations of federal prosecutors at the U.S. Attorney’s Office for New York’s Southern District made their careers. And it’s where, in the fall of 1974, a young prosecutor named Rudy Giuliani first blazed into the public eye with his quest to take down a corrupt United States congressman.

The politician and the prosecutor were outwardly calm and confident as they faced off in court the morning of October 1, but privately both men knew the enormous stakes at hand in what was one of the biggest corruption cases of the Watergate era.

On the stand was Bertram Podell, the powerful Brooklyn Democratic machine veteran who, at forty-eight, ran his political affairs with a self-certainty common among the untouchable. Opposite him was Giuliani, an assistant U.S. attorney on the rise. It was already an epic event—a congressman facing charges of conspiracy, bribery, and conflict of interest—when Giuliani rose just after 10 a.m. to cross-examine him.

The questioning quickly became a master class in breaking down a steely opponent with a thousand cuts. Giuliani laid out his case that Podell had accepted a total of $41,350 from Florida Atlantic Airlines in exchange for helping to secure a new route to the Bahamas—a U.S. congressman secretly operating as their representative. He grilled Podell about praising the airline in a meeting with the Bahamian minister of transport.

“Did you introduce yourself as Congressman Podell?” Giuliani asked.

Yes, Podell said.

“You told him it was a good, reliable company?” Giuliani continued. Yes again.

“Did you tell him that you were being paid to say that, being paid $1,000 to say that?”

“I don’t think I was being paid to say that, Mr. Giuliani,” Podell retorted. “That’s a very unfair thing for you to say.”

All the trademarks of Giuliani’s pugnacious style were on display in court that day: the provocations, the relentlessness, the determination to get into the head and under the skin of his opponents—to own the adversary. But fueling his performance was a deeper conviction: a righteousness aimed at those he saw as frauds and liars, as unworthy pretenders to high government office, as enemies of the people who believed, as he did, that corruption and grifters had to be expunged from public service. That righteousness was Giuliani’s North Star, a source of strength, and, ultimately, a fatal flaw.

Podell was by no means an easy mark, his conviction hardly a sure thing for the legions of New Yorkers who were following the case against the prominent politician. A Navy veteran who had volunteered for World War II before Giuliani was even born, he was so popular he had not lost an election in twenty years. And from his powerful perch, as soon as the criminal charges hit the newspapers, he launched a public damage control operation. He blasted the U.S. Attorney’s Office as a puppet of President Nixon, claiming prosecutors were going after him to deflect from the mushrooming Watergate scandal. He declared it a “badge of honor to be known as public enemy number one of the most corrupt administration in the 200-year history of this nation.”

Podell’s lawyers called a parade of federal officials as character witnesses, including fellow congressman Ed Koch, who testified that his colleague’s reputation for truthfulness and honesty was “excellent.” Koch was then cross-examined by Giuliani: two future leaders of New York City, one grilling the other. Giuliani got Koch to admit under oath that this was not the first time he’d vouched for the integrity of a corrupt lawmaker.

Podell had long insisted he’d done nothing wrong, claiming he had never touched any dirty money. But in the third week of the corruption trial, as the cross-examination began, he met his match.

Giuliani was already a rising star in the U.S. Attorney’s Office. He was promoted to lead the Official Corruption unit the very same month Podell was indicted. In his discount department store suits and awkwardly parted mop of dark hair, he cut a sharp contrast to the polished, smooth-talking congressman. But the young prosecutor was hungry; he’d been preparing for weeks using his colleague Michael Mukasey as a stand-in for Podell in practice sessions. Giuliani “kept telling himself how bad it was what this guy had done, to psych himself up,” Peter Powers told the Washington Post. When he stood up in the courtroom to cross-examine Podell, he was ready.

The inquisition went on for hours, with Judge Robert Carter often interjecting to referee, telling the congressman to quit being evasive and ordering Giuliani to cool it when he went over the top. At one point, Giuliani slammed a book on a table, prompting exclamations of “Objection!” from Podell’s attorneys.

“No dramatics, Mr. Giuliani,” the judge admonished.

But Giuliani was withering, and the congressman’s composure began to crack. Podell’s cool dissolved completely when Giuliani claimed a $29,000 campaign contribution was actually a bribe from the airline to land that new route to the Bahamas.

“That’s a lie!” Podell yelled.

“Who’s telling the lie, Congressman?” Giuliani retorted.

“You are, sir,” Podell said, incensed. “You are.”

Giuliani then produced the $29,000 check from an executive at the airline. “Didn’t he hand you a blank check and didn’t you write in the name of the payee?” Giuliani asked.

“It looks like my handwriting,” Podell admitted.

“It sure does,” Giuliani said.

The New York Times described the young prosecutor as “a boxer closing in on a battered opponent.” Sitting at the prosecution’s table, Mukasey, Giuliani’s co-counsel, said Podell was so shaken at one point that he pressed his thumb on the lens of his glasses hard enough to pop it out of the frame.

Shortly after 1 p.m., Judge Carter recessed the court for lunch, after which the cross-examination was scheduled to resume. It didn’t happen. Podell’s lawyers walked up to Giuliani as he was eating a sandwich. They wanted to discuss a plea, and three hours later, they had a deal.

When court went back in session, Podell withdrew his not guilty plea and copped to lesser conflict of interest charges. Gone was the swagger of earlier that morning. In a whisper, the congressman admitted to “knowingly and intentionally” representing the airline, though he said he didn’t know he was breaking the law.

The congressman was fined and sentenced to six months in prison. His political career was over. But Rudy Giuliani’s ascent was just beginning.



In retrospect it made perfect sense that the two occupations Giuliani chose between as a young man were priest and prosecutor. Both held the allure of judging right from wrong, and enforcing codes of behavior. Strictly speaking, a priest enforces moral codes and a prosecutor legal ones, but in his case the lines blurred. “It gives you a chance to do only what’s right,” he said of a prosecutor’s job. Yet much of what he did wasn’t moral at all.

His version of his rise as a prosecutor is a cinematic tale of a once-in-a-generation talent driven to defeat the forces of criminality. It comes with its own dramatic soundtrack, a building drumbeat tracking his march, with a triumphant crescendo. The reality bears more than a passing resemblance: he was the real deal, an extraordinarily gifted lawyer and born leader who conducted a historic crusade to rid his city of the rot at its core. But the full story also includes elements of cruelty, self-aggrandizement, and hypocrisy. In his march to success, he revealed himself a damaged man.

In 1967, a strong record at New York University Law School landed the young Kennedy fan a $150 per week internship at Richard Nixon’s law firm, Nixon, Mudge, Rose, Guthrie, Alexander & Mitchell. He was twenty-three and one of thirteen interns in the office. “He seemed not to know his way around,” said Frederick Lowther, a fellow intern.

When Nixon, accompanied by his future attorney general, John Mitchell, sat down with the group—“What do you guys want to talk about?”—some peppered him with questions about Vietnam, and whether the U.S. should mine the major port of Haiphong Harbor. Giuliani held back, and didn’t say much. “His interest in politics seemed to be local,” Lowther said.

Peter King, another intern and a future congressman, found him “shy and too nice a guy” at first, but his opinion changed. In a lunchtime conversation, another intern praised New York’s former Republican senator, Kenneth Keating. “You’re a fucking liar!” Giuliani shouted. “He’s a drunk!”

King watched uncomfortably as the barrage of attacks continued. Arguing politics with Giuliani “was as though I had attacked his religion.… Suddenly, he’d be yelling and his eyes were popping out.”

When it came time to offer jobs to the interns, Nixon’s law firm passed on him.

His fortunes would change the next year, thanks to a man who became his mentor, and a woman who became his wife.



The story of Rudy Giuliani and Regina Peruggi begins in the lazy summertime months of their teenage years in the tiny Long Island hamlet of Sound Beach, named for its proximity to the mighty Long Island Sound.

Evangelina Giuliani, Rudy’s paternal grandmother, rented a bungalow each summer, bringing the tribes of the extended family together for weekend gatherings on the beach, where conversations mixed with the squealing of seagulls, and a salty mist breezed off the ocean.

Gina and Rudy were second cousins; Rudy’s father, Harold, and Gina’s father, Salvatore, were first cousins. Her family had a house close to Evangelina’s, and were regulars at the weekend feasts Evangelina organized.

Gina could be quiet around new people, but to her friends and family she was funny, warm, and intelligent; she grew up to become a college president.

The two cousins hit it off at an early age—Rudy took her to his high school junior prom, with their fathers serving as chaperones. When he entered Manhattan College, he’d swing by her house after class. “He worshipped her,” recalled one of her closest friends, Pat Rufino, who spent weekends at the Sound Beach family get-togethers. “Here’s this guy, almost three or four times a week, stopping by to hang out with a bunch of high school kids… he had a crush on her. Big time.”

Rudy was pale and disciplined, an old soul in a young man’s body whose idea of fun was listening to Verdi in his living room. But there was an intensity to him that many found compelling. “By the time I met him when I was in high school and he was in college he already had a circle of people following him around,” said Rufino. “He was very, very smart, and very articulate. People were very drawn to him. He was always the leader.

“I remember thinking he was going to eventually be president when I was fifteen years old,” she recalled. “There was something about him that made you think he was going to be a big deal.”

His romance with Peruggi didn’t truly blossom until his final year at NYU. She was coming off a broken engagement and turned to her cousin. “They were dating two minutes later,” Rufino said. “It was kind of like he was standing there waiting.”

The couple had an easy chemistry; they were smart and confident, and ran with a group of close friends. “We all drank like crazy in college and in our twenties,” said Rufino. “I mean really it was insane.”

They were married on October 26, 1968, at St. Philip Neri Church in the Bronx with more than a hundred friends and family as witnesses. Giuliani’s old Bishop Loughlin pal Alan Placa was best man, and Rufino was Peruggi’s maid of honor. After the vows, everyone drove to a beach club for the reception, and the newlyweds had their first dance to Frank Sinatra’s “All the Way.”

Soon after their Virgin Islands honeymoon, he passed the bar exam. It was November 5, 1968—Election Day. Richard Nixon won the White House and Rudy Giuliani became a lawyer.

The couple moved into a tiny walk-up apartment on East 58th Street in Manhattan, right off tony Sutton Place. Giuliani landed a clerkship, and Gina worked as a drug counselor at a state jail. One Saturday every month, friends came over and Giuliani played opera music for them.

Peruggi learned a lot more about her new husband’s passions as his career took off.

He was clerking for Judge Lloyd MacMahon of the Federal District Court in Manhattan. A former mob-busting prosecutor, he had a fierce reputation; even his friends were terrified of arguing cases in his courtroom. “He was offended and upset when lawyers were not prepared,” Giuliani recalled. “There was no fooling him.”

MacMahon told his clerks that every hour in court required four hours of rehearsals and role-playing, a roadmap Giuliani would follow when preparing to eviscerate Bertram Podell on the stand.

Giuliani and Jon Sale, a fellow clerk, spent hours in court watching the lawyers of the U.S. Attorney’s Office in action like rapt theatergoers, “seeing how cool it was and how interesting it was and what great lawyers most of them were,” Sale recalled. Giuliani discovered his true calling as a prosecutor.

MacMahon, famously hard to impress, was taken with Giuliani. “He said from the beginning that Rudy was the best law clerk he ever had,” Sale recalled. The judge set about opening doors for his young protégé in ways that would send Giuliani’s career into orbit.

He also used his clout to keep one door shut, and may have saved his life. Giuliani won student deferments through college and law school, but became eligible for the Vietnam War draft when he graduated NYU. Eager to avoid serving, he applied for an occupational deferment, but was rejected because deferments were typically reserved for positions the government considered essential. Law clerk wasn’t one of them.

He was fortunate enough to have found a powerful federal judge as his mentor, however, and when MacMahon made the case himself the draft board saw the light. Thanks to MacMahon’s intervention, the government declared Giuliani too indispensable to serve, and spared him from fighting in a war that killed almost sixty thousand Americans.

The combat that interested Giuliani took place in courtrooms. Armed with a recommendation from MacMahon, he was hired as an assistant U.S. attorney in Manhattan’s Southern District. Giuliani was just twenty-six years old, and a federal prosecutor.



In his first year as an assistant U.S. attorney, he started off small, working on one case involving a stabbing, and another involving an illegal still, but moved up to work on explosive police corruption cases. He spent endless hours pumping sources for information on dirty cops, and proved so adept at the job that a movie and a book—Prince of the City—portrayed his partnership with a police informant, Bob Leuci.

His free time with Gina evaporated. “He used to work really, really late,” said Rufino. “But half of the time he was working late he was screwing around with people in his office.”

Giuliani’s wife found another woman’s jewelry in the house. Women she didn’t recognize rang their doorbell, looking for him.

“He cheated on her pretty much the whole time they were married,” Rufino said. “Obvious stuff that was really tacky.”

Her husband denied to her that he was cheating, telling her it was all in her head—“gaslighting her,” said Rufino. “He was emotionally and mentally terribly destructive.”

Leuci, Giuliani’s star informant, has described the cheating as flagrant. “Rudy Giuliani preferred WASPy women, blondes,” he said. “He hit on everybody, hit on them all, all the time. He bounced around the Village. He was pretty wild.”

The couple separated, only to reunite a short time later when a new opportunity presented itself to the ascendent prosecutor.

After five successful years as an assistant U.S. attorney—fresh off his victory in the Podell trial—Giuliani was connected by MacMahon to the incoming U.S. deputy attorney general, Harold “Ace” Tyler, who was joining Gerald Ford’s administration as the second most powerful official in the Justice Department. He hired Giuliani as his aide.

Gina and he moved to D.C. She found them a gracious high-rise apartment, where they hosted parties packed with top Justice Department officials. It was a proud moment in Giuliani’s life; he liked to show friends his office, located in the same building where Bobby Kennedy once presided. On the wall behind his desk was a framed newspaper article reporting Podell’s guilty plea.

But between his workaholic tendencies and his philandering, the couple’s relationship deteriorated beyond repair. When Jimmy Carter was elected president in 1976, two years into their time in D.C., Tyler moved to New York to become a partner in a private law firm and brought Giuliani with him. The marriage didn’t survive.

Giuliani’s patrons at the Justice Department had been Republicans, and he began a political migration from his liberal roots, first declaring himself an independent, then completing his evolution in 1980, when he changed his registration to Republican one month after Ronald Reagan won the presidency. The explanation he offered was that the Democratic Party had swung too far to the left.

Two months after Reagan’s election, he was tapped for a big job: associate attorney general, the third most powerful position at the Justice Department. Just thirty-six years old, he became the youngest associate attorney general in American history.

Two days before Rudy’s confirmation, Harold Giuliani died of prostate cancer. Deep in mourning, he drove around his old Brooklyn neighborhood with Judge MacMahon and a close friend from his days at the U.S. Attorney’s Office, pointing out landmarks from his youth. He later said it was the most painful event of his life.

For the rest of his days as a public figure, Giuliani invoked his father’s name frequently, always quoting his sage advice. “My father used to say, ‘The first thing that’s important—you respect me,’ ” he recalled. “ ‘The rest you’ll understand.’ ”

Raised by a violent ex-con and exposed to thugs and mobsters growing up, Rudy was working at the pinnacle of the government criminal justice system. If it pained him to keep the details of his strange childhood secret, he didn’t let on. All his friends and associates saw was a relentlessly ambitious figure, driven by some inner radar that set him on a perpetual search-and-destroy mission against his obstacles and adversaries.

Peter Powers liked to say that his best friend lacked a fear gene. It was apparent when Giuliani jumped barricades to shake a president’s hand; slept soundly after helping to wreck a hotel floor; or cheated on his wife.

Triumphing over fear was a guiding principle to him. “My father was one of my heroes because he had such a tremendous ability to control—overcome—fear,” he once recalled.

A powerful man bereft of self-doubt can accomplish great things or cause tremendous damage. As he rose to prominence, Giuliani increasingly demonstrated his capacity for both, with far more people impacted than just a long-suffering wife.



In the autumn of 1981, sixty-seven Haitian refugees jammed into a thirty-foot boat, a vessel so ramshackle that its only waterproofing was a coat of mud. The conditions on their island were intolerable; Haiti was the poorest country in the Western Hemisphere, with an average income of $250.

For decades, the country had been ruled by a father-son team of tyrants: first François “Papa Doc” Duvalier and then his son, Jean-Claude, known as “Baby Doc.” Both declared themselves presidents for life, using the brutal secret police known as the Tontons Macoutes to crush dissent and spread terror throughout the country. Free and fair elections were scrapped; journalists were detained and tortured. Tens of thousands were killed. The Haitians who sought refuge in America pleaded that they were running for their lives.

The passengers on the overcrowded vessel had a run of luck at first, fleeing without harm where others had been shot and killed by Haitian police firing from the mainland to prevent their escape. They had almost made it to shore when their boat encountered rough waters just a mile off of Miami. It capsized, throwing them overboard. Nineteen men and fourteen women, one of them pregnant, drowned.

Horrifying stories such as these were becoming increasingly common. In 1980 alone, 25,000 Haitian refugees arrived on the shores of South Florida, a small percentage of the 150,000 asylum seekers, most of them Cuban, arriving in the Mariel Boatlift. The Reagan administration looked favorably upon the Cuban refugees, largely granting them asylum to escape the regime of Fidel Castro, who was considered an enemy by the president and his Cuban American supporters.

The Haitians were another story: Duvalier had made friends with the administration, despite the widespread corruption and brutality of his regime. Granting him his wish, Reagan declared Haitians economic, not political, refugees and ordered them detained and returned to their home country, where they faced brutal consequences.

The man chosen to enforce his order was Rudy Giuliani.

In April 1982, he traveled to Haiti and met with Baby Doc Duvalier as well as the feared Tontons Macoutes. The prosecutor swallowed whole his assurance that there was no campaign of political persecution taking place. “There is not a problem, a major problem, a systematic problem of political repression in Haiti,” Giuliani testified at a subsequent court hearing in Miami. “A situation of political repression does not exist, at least in general, in Haiti.”

He callously dismissed the heart-wrenching images Americans were seeing of desperate refugees being held in American detention camps. Television news programs “would show these pathetic people sort of holding hands and kissing each other, and then say that this man and wife were separated by this cruel, vicious government,” he said. “These people don’t come over with marriage certificates. And they keep claiming that different people are their wives.”

He injected alarming racial stereotypes into the debate. “If you let the men into the women’s camps, they go around raping them,” he insisted, making no such allegations against the Cubans whom the administration embraced.

Giuliani had once marveled that becoming a prosecutor allowed him to do “only what’s right,” but chose career success over protecting the lives of thousands of terrified refugees. It was a stance that earned him widespread scorn, but deep gratitude from the administration. His loyalty to the president was absolute. Ronald Reagan would not be the last to experience it.



By February 1982, Donna Hanover, an anchor at WCKT-TV in Miami, was realizing her ambitions in the television news business after years toiling in some decidedly unglamorous places. Compared to her previous gigs in Utica, Columbus, and Pittsburgh, Miami was paradise, just one career rung away from New York, the most prestigious media market of them all.

She was blond-haired and green-eyed, with the statuesque bearing and polite, frozen smile of a television hostess. A Justice Department colleague of Rudy Giuliani’s who met her at a wedding in Tennessee set the two of them up on a blind date.

Giuliani’s work enforcing the administration’s immigration policies required him to travel to Miami frequently; he had his assistant give Hanover a call.

“His secretary called me up and said, ‘I understand you want to interview Mr. Giuliani,’ ” Hanover recalled. “And I said, ‘Well, yes. That’s fine.’ ” She scolded him later on. “You should really get your personal relations and your press relations straightened out,” she said.

The two had a long, romantic dinner—Giuliani said he fell in love with her “immediately”—and she interviewed him the next day.

It took just three weeks for Giuliani to tell Hanover he loved her. On the sixth week he proposed. They were at Disney World, of all places, at a conference for prosecutors. She said yes, quit her job, and moved to Washington.

Giuliani was still married to Peruggi, who had moved on with her life. The two divorced at the end of the year, but that would not be the end of their story. Hanover and her fiancé would have to wait as Giuliani tied up a loose end.

At the beginning of 1983, John Martin Jr., the U.S. attorney for the Southern District of New York, informed the Reagan Justice Department that he intended to resign. Giuliani quickly became the frontrunner to replace him.

As associate attorney general supervising all the U.S. attorneys across the country, becoming a U.S. attorney was technically a step down. But by doing so, Giuliani would be giving up a bureaucratic position to head the most prestigious prosecutor’s office in the nation in the largest media market in the country. It was an opportunity to claim center stage.

He was also privy to cases brewing behind the scenes that had the potential to make a star of whoever took the job.

On October 14, 1982, President Reagan took the short trip from the White House to the Department of Justice’s Great Hall to deliver a landmark speech on crime. Much of the press coverage focused on his war on drugs, but his remarks about organized crime represented a turning point in the generations-long battle between the feds and the Mafia.

“For many years, we have tolerated in America, not just in the illegal and highly dangerous drug traffic but in many other areas, a syndicate of organized criminals whose power is now reaching unparalleled heights,” Reagan said, standing between enormous aluminum-clad statues of a woman in a toga and a half-naked man.

“It controls corrupt union locals; it runs burglary rings, fences for stolen goods, holds a virtual monopoly on the heroin trade; it thrives on illegal gambling, pornography, gun-running, car theft, arson and a host of other illegal activities.…

“The time has come to cripple the power of the mob in America.”

The Mafia was deeply embedded into the fabric of urban America, terrorizing businesses and labor unions, driving up prices in the construction industry, selling narcotics to America’s teenagers. Reagan’s speech was a call to bear down on the mob with the full weight of U.S. law enforcement.

Hundreds of FBI agents and prosecutors were deployed to field offices across the nation to bolster Reagan’s war. They were armed with powerful new laws loosening wiretapping restrictions and enabling prosecutors to pursue entire mob families rather than just individual members.

John Martin’s Southern District had been building cases against the five Mafia families for years. They were bombshell cases that were almost baked, making whomever succeeded him a lucky man.

Giuliani accepted the Southern District position and was sworn in on June 3, 1983, by Judge MacMahon. Within two years, Martin’s role in the Mafia cases would be all but forgotten. New York had a new sheriff, and he was eager to let people know it.

“I think we can end traditional organized crime,” Giuliani predicted boldly to the New York Times a month after his arrival. He portrayed the fight against the mob as a personal one, an effort to avenge the honor of his fellow Italian Americans, who had long suffered from the stigma the Mafia had given them. The media ate it up.

While he was eager to personify the war on the mob, the cases against the Five Families had been largely constructed by the time he arrived—they weren’t his. He solved that problem before he even walked through the doors of his new office.

As Giuliani tells the story, he experienced a eureka moment that changed crime-fighting history while still at the Justice Department. It happened, he said, while watching a 60 Minutes interview with mob boss Joseph Bonanno, who had inexplicably decided to publish his memoirs.

In his book, Bonanno described the inner workings of “the Commission,” a ruling council comprised of the bosses of all Five Families.

According to Giuliani, he realized that instead of going after the Five Families individually, it would be better to go after them as a single, corrupt organization, an audacious move that, if successful, could decapitate the mob with a single case.

“I dreamed up the tactic of using the Federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (known to Sopranos fans by its acronym ‘RICO’) to prosecute the Mafia leadership for being itself a ‘corrupt enterprise,’ ” Giuliani wrote in his book Leadership.

“I realized that Bonanno’s description of how the families were organized provided a roadmap of precisely what the RICO statute was designed to combat. As soon as I became the U.S. Attorney I was able to hoist Bonanno by his literary petard.”

There are strong arguments that Giuliani distorted the truth to make himself the hero of what came next. Ron Goldstock, director of the State Organized Crime Task Force, has described a meeting two months after the new U.S. attorney arrived in New York in which it was he who proposed using the RICO statutes against the Five Families to Giuliani, instead of the other way around.

Goldstock said he told Giuliani that law enforcement wiretaps were revealing that the families were gathering regularly, Godfather-style, to set ground rules and resolve disputes. He said Giuliani grew excited that he could take down organized crime in one fell swoop. Giuliani has denied Goldstock’s version of events.

What is indisputable is that the new U.S. attorney attacked the case with a vengeance over the following months. There was no need to start a new investigation; the evidence had already been gathered for the existing cases. All that was necessary was to wade through hundreds of hours of wiretapped conversation to locate specific references to the Commission.

Energized, Giuliani traveled to Washington to brief William French Smith, the attorney general, about the Commission concept, and request jurisdiction over narcotics enforcement in the region, a slap in the face to the Southern District’s rivals at the Eastern District offices in Brooklyn. The attorney general, who had worked closely with Giuliani in Washington, granted him jurisdiction, and threw in funding and personnel. By 1984, 350 FBI agents and one hundred police detectives were working on mob cases.

The decision to scramble the cases against the Five Families after years of preparation and shift the focus to the Commission wasn’t universally embraced.

Walter Mack, the irascible chief of the Southern District’s Organized Crime Unit, was a graduate of Harvard and Columbia Law School, and a former Marine in the Vietnam War. He once said that the closest adrenaline rush to combat was arguing a criminal trial as a prosecutor. “It causes you to focus,” he said.

Mack had nurtured the five mob family cases over many years; the Commission case was threatening to destroy his work. “It completely stripped off from all of those family investigations the very best evidence at the very top,” he said. “There was Rudy grandstanding himself as this great organized crime guy.… It was just really more of a selfish act that had risks to it.”

Mack was infuriated that Giuliani was taking credit for work done under John Martin, and appalled by his insatiable need for attention. The grand indictment press conference was becoming a staple of the evening news. When prosecutors charged eight men with planning to sell weapons to Iran and the Irish Republican Army, he held a press conference and provided machine guns as props. When the feds busted heroin rings doing business in five cities, it was Giuliani who announced it.

Then there was “Federal Day” in September, an initiative that flooded a neighborhood with hundreds of FBI agents and produced mass arrests of low-level drug dealers. Their crimes were traditionally the province of local, not federal, prosecutors, and it wasn’t clear what good a single day of activity by the feds each year would accomplish. But it made Giuliani seem like a champion of the people.

The high-profile antics were a marked contrast to Martin’s low-profile style, and struck traditionalists as unseemly. But the media was enchanted.

“A Real-Life Perry Mason,” ran a Newsweek headline. “Giuliani sees himself as a crime fighter, and he believes that he can do that best in New York,” it reported. “That may be, but some of his associates say that the politically savvy Giuliani might also use his position at center stage to build up a base from which to run for office.”

His hunger for press became something of a running joke among his Southern District subordinates. But Mack wasn’t in a laughing mood; he took his concerns about the media offensive to the new boss. Not long afterward, a member of Giuliani’s inner circle—derisively known around the office as the “YesRudis”—informed him that Giuliani was unhappy. “He thinks you’re not on the team,” he said.

After years spent working on the cases Giuliani was borrowing from, Mack was demoted. “It pissed the shit out of me,” he said.

But there was also a sense of excitement in the office; Giuliani was spearheading groundbreaking cases, and drawing national—even international—attention to them. For all his showboating, many there considered him an inspiring leader.

“He was just always there, totally into the law,” said Daniel Richman, a prosecutor under Giuliani. “At no time did you see any throwing of weight around or anything other than a clear analytic focus that had integrity at its core.”

With the media focused on the Southern District as never before, Giuliani took a risk near the end of the year that could have blown up in his face: obtaining a secret annulment of his marriage to Peruggi. He wanted to marry Donna Hanover in a Catholic ceremony, but his divorce from Peruggi prohibited it. It fell upon his boyhood friend Alan Placa, a priest and a law school grad, to figure out how to solve the problem.

Placa learned from research that the Church required special dispensation for second cousins to marry; Rudy and Gina had never obtained it. In order to invalidate his marriage to Peruggi, Giuliani claimed that he and his wife thought they were third cousins. Family members on both sides have disputed that bitterly, contending that the couple knew all along how they were related. But the Church granted Giuliani’s wish, ruled their marriage improper, and wiped it off the books.

Peruggi was shocked when she learned of his plans. “She basically felt like she had been betrayed,” said Pat Rufino.

Giuliani cheated on Peruggi throughout their marriage, proposed to another woman before they were divorced, and moved to annul their union without her knowledge. It was a remarkable way to treat a wife. Rudy and Donna tied the knot on April 15, 1984.



In late February 1985, FBI agents fanned out across New York to arrest the leaders of New York’s five organized crime families. They were indicted on fifteen counts of racketeering, an epic moment in the history of the government’s war on organized crime. They were five aging Italian men at the top of the Genovese, Gambino, Lucchese, Colombo, and Bonanno crime families, men with names like “Fat Tony” Salerno, “Tony Ducks” Corallo, and “Big Paul” Castellano.

Three hundred other alleged organized figures had already been indicted over the previous two years, including twenty-four members of the Gambino crime family arrested in one fell swoop on homicide and racketeering charges, in a case spearheaded by Walter Mack. But that was all a prelude to the announcement that Giuliani made at a packed news conference, attended by over a hundred members of the media.

He entered a windowless room filled with television crews, photographers, and reporters. He was accompanied by a group of top law enforcement officials.

“This is a bad day, probably the worst ever, for the Mafia,” he said. “This case charges more Mafia bosses in one indictment than ever before,” he added, branding the defendants the mob’s “ruling council.” FBI director William Webster, who flew in for the event, called the indictments “historic.”

It was a watershed moment for Giuliani, and the start of an extraordinary run. One twelve-day period the following year would capture the extraordinary sweep of his efforts to combat organized crime, malfeasance on Wall Street, and government corruption.

On November 19, 1986, a jury found four mob bosses and several of their associates in the Commission case guilty; many received one-hundred-year sentences. The fifth mob leader, Paul Castellano, leader of the Gambino crime family, was murdered before he got to trial; three men in trench coats working for his own organization riddled him with bullets as he stepped out of a limousine outside Sparks Steak House in midtown Manhattan.

Seven days later, Giuliani won the conviction of Stanley Friedman, the enormously powerful Bronx Democratic Party leader, climaxing a crusade to expose a vast municipal corruption scandal that had riveted the city. Giuliani tried the case himself, forfeiting the opportunity to try the Commission case because Friedman’s was the more complex trial of the two—a high-stakes decision. But the risk paid off; the conviction positioned him for a potential mayoral run in 1989.

The same two-week period saw a turning point moment on Wall Street. Giuliani announced that Ivan Boesky, an icon of a delirious era in the financial sector, had agreed to plead guilty to a criminal charge and pay a $100 million fine for insider trading. Giuliani was the skunk at the party, ruining the fun with a relentless assault on corruption in the market. His successful pursuit of Boesky led to even bigger triumphs: the arrest and conviction of Michael Milken, the wildly successful king of junk bonds, and the subsequent collapse of Drexel Burnham Lambert, the investment powerhouse that epitomized the industry’s free-for-all culture.

His remarkable successes—he seemed to present the public with the scalp of a new titan every week—cemented his image as a fearless crusader against the corruption and entitlement of New York’s political, financial, and social elites.

“Every era has a law-enforcement figure or two who captures the public imagination, who turns the job of police officer or prosecutor into ‘crime buster’ and makes the fight against evil appear to be a personal vendetta,” the New York Times proclaimed in June 1985.

The article described a starstruck woman gushing over him in an elevator ride (“You’re the one in the papers—with the mob!”) and tabulated his media appearances (two television appearances that week, five the week before). It featured blistering criticism of his pursuit of media attention, and in particular his press conferences, derided as “unethical,” “prejudicial,” and “unbelievable” by the administrator of the New York State Commission on Judicial Conduct.

Giuliani contended that his public shaming of his prosecutorial targets served a purpose. “It’s very hard to convince them that I do it because I feel a government office should be open, and I have an obligation to maximize public education and public knowledge,” he said, though that didn’t explain why he posed “playfully” in his bed with Donna for a magazine profile.

“He gets a bad rap for talking in length with the press, but he’s like that with everybody,” Hanover told the reporter. “He’ll stay up talking for hours with friends; he’s interested in everything. That’s what I like about him. I like smart men. I’ve always found that very sexy.”

Her husband’s addiction to the media, and television in particular, helped to magnify his accomplishments. He was a master interview, crisp and disciplined, strategic in his comments, and cool under pressure.

The attorneys on the other side of the cases he was publicizing weren’t amused. Giuliani’s press conferences were models of character assassination, painting his targets as guilty long before trial. His opponents howled that he was tainting the jury pool.

A case in point was the prosecution of Bess Myerson, a front-page circus of a case that became known as the “Bess Mess.” Giuliani was its ringmaster.

Myerson, who was raised in a lower-middle-class housing cooperative in the Bronx, was the first Jewish woman crowned Miss America in 1945, and remained a beloved icon to Jewish New Yorkers for much of her life. She was beautiful, elegant, and well-spoken, highly in demand by presidents and mayors seeking to associate with a woman of her stature. During the 1977 mayor’s race she was a constant companion to Ed Koch, who was unmarried and suspected by some of being gay. His campaign manager, David Garth, believed Koch would have lost the race without her. Koch subsequently named her his cultural affairs commissioner.

In the summer of 1983, she gave a $19,000 per year special assistant’s job to Sukhreet Gabel, the daughter of Hortense Gabel, a veteran State Supreme Court judge who was presiding over the divorce case of Myerson’s boyfriend, Andy Capasso. Soon after Sukhreet was hired, Judge Gabel cut Capasso’s alimony payments to his ex-wife by two thirds to $500 a week, and child support almost in half to $180. The press caught on, and prosecutors took notice.

Robert Morgenthau, the Manhattan district attorney, passed on the case, worried about its flaws. Giuliani had no such compunctions; he indicted Myerson, Capasso, and Judge Gabel in October 1987. Speaking to reporters, he called the $19,000 position “part of a bribe.”

“When you are sitting on a case where the correspondent in a matrimonial matter employs your daughter, that is a matter that should cry out for investigation,” he said.

The law required more than the appearance of a quid pro quo, though: prosecutors had to prove that there was an explicit agreement. Thus did Sukhreet Gabel, an eccentric thirty-nine-year-old who spoke openly about her history of depression and electroshock therapy treatments, secretly record her phone conversations with her mother and try to lure her into admitting she had made a deal with Myerson (she failed).

The spectacle spilled into farce, as Sukhreet, Giuliani’s star witness, bathed in the media glow, singing at a cabaret and getting a televised facial makeover. She portrayed herself as a loving daughter, and brought roses to her mother at the defendant’s table prior to testifying against her. Judge Gabel, half blind, was nurturing and supportive of her, offering an insight into why she had reached out to dozens of potential employers, Myerson included, to find a position for her troubled daughter.

Jay Goldberg, Capasso’s lawyer, was incensed at both the prosecutorial overkill and Giuliani’s use of the media to aid his case. “Giuliani tried to bury the people under the avalanche of prejudicial publicity,” he said. “I mean you couldn’t turn the page for a day without reading some sort of terrible story about Bess and Andy.”

When members of the jury pool were interviewed by the judge, John Keenan, Goldberg said, “everybody said they believed the defendants were guilty. Everyone.”

In the end, Myerson, Capasso, and Gabel were found not guilty, the determining factor being the sight of a troubled daughter testifying against her mother. It was an embarrassing loss for Giuliani at a sensitive moment, as he was considering a run for mayor. “This is a case that had to be tried,” he maintained.

His final months as U.S. attorney were less a victory lap than a moment of reassessment by the public.

Criticism over his methods mounted in February 1987, when he had three Wall Street traders arrested, handcuffed, and marched across their trading room floor without so much as an indictment; Giuliani dropped the charges three months later. “I should have slowed it down and I should have found out how complex the case was,” he conceded.

More high-profile cases ended in acquittals—most prominently his case against Imelda Marcos, the widow of former Philippines president Ferdinand Marcos—or were reversed on appeal. The backlash against Giuliani was crystallized in a March 1989 ruling from Federal District Court Judge John Sprizzo, who threw out the indictments of seven defendants in a major heroin trafficking case known as “Pizza Connection II.”

“There is in your office—and I notice it not only in this case but in other cases—a kind of overkill, a kind of overzealousness, which is not even, from my viewpoint as a person who has been a prosecutor, rationally related to any legitimate prosecutive objectives,” the judge said.

By then, Giuliani had already left the job to campaign for mayor. On his way out the door, the Daily News ran a photo of him with an automatic pistol with a silencer. “GOOD NEWS FOR BAD GUYS,” read the headline, “Crimebuster Giuliani steps down.” Similar stories popped up in newspapers from St. Louis, Missouri, to London, England.

“I hope the legacy we leave is the continued emphasis on the need to reform the way in which we do business and practice politics,” he told reporters at his last press conference.

Giuliani evolved in significant ways in the years that followed, but the zeal he brought to the Southern District never faded. Nor did his propensity for overkill, or his addiction to media coverage. But his stages grew larger.
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